#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DARIA HARPER; WININGER.

**DANIEL** 

Case No. 82158

Appellants,

VS.

COPPERPOINT MUTUAL INSURANCE HOLDING COMPANY, an Arizona corporation; COPPERPOINT GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY, an Arizona corporation; LAW OFFICES OF MARSHALL SILVERBERG, P.C., a California corporation; KENNETH MARSHALL SILVERBERG aka MARSHALL SILVERBERG aka K. MARSHALL SILVERBERG,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Jun 21 2021 02:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This is an appeal from the district court's order entered on October 26, 2020, granting the motion of respondents, Copperpoint Mutual Insurance Holding Company and Copperpoint General Insurance Company ("Copperpoint"), to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and denying the motion of appellants, Daria Harper and Daniel Wininger, for partial summary judgment pursuant to NRCP 56 (JA 1492-1508). On November 24, 2020, appellants filed notice of appeal and moved to certify the order as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b) (JA 1509-1529; JA 1530-1538). On February 6, 2021, the district court certified the order as final (JA 1546-1570). Thus, this appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a) and is from an order of final judgment pursuant to NRCP 54(b) and NRAP 3A(b)(1). *See also* March 19, 2021 Order of the Supreme Court.

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case involves a substantial issue of first impression regarding whether NRS 42.021 applies to settlements and, if so, whether it creates a conflict of laws, particularly as to the dismissed Copperpoint defendants. These are matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression and statewide public importance pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11)-(12), and is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court.

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the district court err in granting respondent Copperpoint's motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and denying appellants' motion for partial summary judgment, based on its conclusion of law that NRS 42.021 does not apply to medical malpractice cases that are settled, rather than taken to trial?
- 2. If NRS 42.021 applies to medical malpractice settlements, in the case at bar, does the contrary law of Arizona take precedence over Nevada's law?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants appeal from an order granting respondents' motion to dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and from the order denying their motion for partial summary judgment. No material facts are in controversy. The initial issue of law presented is whether NRS 42.021 permits or prohibits a workers' compensation lien or future credit on the settlement proceeds of a medical malpractice action. Appellants contend that NRS 42.021 prohibits such a lien or future credit. Respondents, Law Offices of Marshall Silberberg, P.C. and Kenneth Marshall Silberberg ("Silberberg"), agree. See Order of the Supreme Court dated March 19, 2021 at p. 2. Respondent Copperpoint contends it does not. If the Supreme Court concludes, as did the district court, that NRS 42.021 does not apply to the settlement proceeds of a medical malpractice action, then it need go no further because the laws of Arizona and Nevada would be the same. But if the Supreme Court finds that NRS 42.021 prohibits a workers' compensation lien or future credit on the settlement proceeds of a medical malpractice action, then a conflict of laws would exist between Nevada and Arizona because Arizona has not enacted a statute similar to NRS 42.021. In that instance, the Court would have to decide the second legal issue: which state law is applicable in the case at bar?<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The order these two issues are to be decided is mandated by the Nevada

Essentially, appellants contend the law of Nevada applies because the medical services forming the basis of the allegations of the underlying medical malpractice case were provided in Nevada by Nevada health care providers licensed by Nevada, and the settlement proceeds were paid by the Nevada health care providers to settle an action prosecuted against them in Nevada. Respondent Copperpoint contends, and the district court agreed, that the law of Arizona applies because appellant Daria Harper is an Arizona resident who was initially injured in Arizona in the course and scope of her employment with an Arizona employer and she then filed for and obtained benefits under the Arizona workers' compensation scheme.

### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

#### I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On August 11, 2014, appellant Daria Harper, a resident of Arizona, sustained a knee injury in Arizona while in the course and scope of her employment with

Supreme Court. The law of Nevada must be ascertained first because if it is the same as the law of Arizona, no conflict of laws analysis is required. *Tri-County Equipment & Leasing v. Klinke*, 128 Nev. 352, 355, 286 P.3d 593, 595 (2012): "before undertaking a conflict-of-law analysis, a court should determine whether a conflict of law actually exists."

Islander RV Resort, LLC, a limited liability company domiciled in Arizona (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 2, lines 6-8; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶3; Exhibit 3; declaration of John P. Blumberg, ¶5; Exhibit 14). At the time appellant Daria Harper was injured, respondent Copperpoint was the workers' compensation insurer for her employer (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 2, lines 8-17; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶3; Exhibit 10; Exhibit 30; Exhibit 31). Pursuant to the Arizona Workers' Compensation Act (ARS 23-901, *et seq.*), respondent Copperpoint was obligated to and did provide, among other things, necessary medical treatment and income disability payments to appellant Daria Harper (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 2, lines 11-13; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶3).

On June 9, 2015, appellant Daria Harper required and received medical treatment in Las Vegas, Nevada that was related to her original August 11, 2014 injury and respondents paid her medical bills (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer filed June 1, 2020 at p. 2, lines 21-23 and p. 3, lines 15-17; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶4). As a result of this medical treatment, (a) appellant Daria Harper suffered serious injury resulting in quadriplegia, significant pain, suffering, emotional distress and economic damages for the cost of future care, as well as lost income and earning capacity and (b) appellant Daniel Wininger suffered compensable damages by virtue of his marital relationship with Plaintiff Daria

Harper (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 2, line 23 to p. 3, line 1; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶4; Exhibit 2, declaration of Daniel Wininger, ¶3). On June 7, 2016, appellants filed a complaint in the District Court of Nevada, Clark County ("the underlying medical malpractice action"), alleging that they sustained damages as a result of the medical negligence of five individuals licensed by Nevada to provide medical care, Valley Hospital Medical Center, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and Valley Health Systems, LLC, a Delaware corporation having its primary place of business in Nevada (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 3, lines 19-23; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶5; Exhibit 2, declaration of Daniel Wininger, ¶4; Exhibit 3, declaration of John P. Blumberg, ¶s 6-12; Exhibits 4; Exhibits 15 to 28). Respondent claimed a lien for repayment of financial benefits paid to or on behalf of appellant Daria Harper, pursuant to Arizona statute ARS 23-1023, when it became aware of the underlying medical malpractice action (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer filed June 1, 2020 at p. 4, lines 6-9).

In 2018, the health care providers settled and paid appellants \$6,250,000, and the medical malpractice action was then dismissed (JA 1107-1410: Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶8; Exhibit 3; Exhibit 7). About a month later, appellants, through their attorney, Silberberg, notified respondent that the case had been settled but that, pursuant to NRS 42.021, it was not entitled to a lien (JA 1107-1410: Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶9; Exhibit 3, declaration of John P.

Blumberg, ¶13; Exhibit 8; Exhibit 22). On October 30, 2019, respondent served a "Notice of Claim Status" on appellant Daria Harper, that stated in part: 1. Pursuant to ARS 23-1023, respondent has a lien against appellant Daria Harper's third-party recovery from the medical malpractice action in an amount equal to compensation and medical, surgical, and hospital benefits paid by respondent. 2. Respondent is entitled to accrued interest on the lien from the date settlement proceeds were disbursed. 3. Respondent is entitled to a future credit against appellant Daria Harper's recovery equal to the amount of money received by appellant Daria Harper in the malpractice action after subtracting expenses and attorney fees. Respondent is not required to pay claimant compensation or medical, surgical, or hospital benefits until the claimant's post-settlement accrued entitlement to compensation and medical benefits exceeds the credit amount. 5. To the extent the settlement in the malpractice action was less than the workers' compensation benefits provided by respondents, appellant Daria Harper's failure to obtain respondents' prior approval before settling results in forfeiture of her workers' compensation claim (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 4, lines 19-21; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶9; Exhibit 9).

After respondent Copperpoint served the Notice of Claim Status, it terminated payments being made for the services of appellant Daniel Wininger who was being compensated to provide 24-hour per day care to appellant Dania Harper, and on April

2, 2020, respondents sent appellant Daria Harper the letter notifying her that it would terminate all other benefits, in thirty days (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 5, lines 1-3; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶10; declaration of Daniel Wininger, ¶6; Exhibit 10). On May 1, 2020, respondent served its Notice of Claims Status which stated, "Future compensation, medical, surgical, hospital, pharmacy, caretaker & other benefits payable to applicant or behalf of applicant are terminated effective May 2, 2020 until [respondents'] current lien of \$3,171,095.00 is fully exhausted." (JA 0039-0051: Respondents' Answer at p. 5, lines 6-9 and 22-23; Exhibit 1, declaration of Daria Harper, ¶11; Exhibit 11).

#### II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Appellants filed their complaint on May 4, 2020 (JA 0001-0022). On May 6, 2020, they filed an Errata adding the two exhibits they inadvertently omitted from their complaint (JA 0023-0030). The complaint alleged six causes of action. The first cause of action sought declaratory relief and named all of the defendants including respondents. The second cause of action for injunctive relief named only respondent Copperpoint. These are the causes of action that are in issue in this appeal. The third cause of action for legal malpractice, the fifth cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty and the sixth cause of action for breach of contract named respondent Silberberg, Thomas S. Alch and Shoop, A Professional Law Corporation; the latter being dismissed on January 29, 2021 (JA 1539-1545). The

fourth cause of action for fraud was alleged against only respondent Silberberg.<sup>2</sup> Respondent Copperpoint filed its answer on June 1, 2020 (JA 0039-0051).

On June 26, 2020, appellants filed their motion for partial summary judgment. On September 4, 2020, respondents filed their motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(1), 12(b)(2) and 12(b)(5) or alternately for partial summary judgment (JA 0593-0671). Thereafter, the parties filed opposition and reply papers (JA 0672-0741; JA 1411-1491; JA 1107-1410; JA 0742-1087). The district court set both matters for its October 28, 2020 calendar, but on October 26, 2020, it rendered its Order, stating that a hearing was not necessary (JA 1492-1508). The district court granted respondent Copperpoint's motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5) and denied appellants' motion for partial summary judgment, concluding that NRS 42.021 does not apply to settlements of medical malpractice cases (JA 1492-1508). In that event, as appellants had pointed out in their papers, the district court did not have to perform a conflict of laws analysis because the laws of Nevada and Arizona

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because resolution of this appeal has a direct effect on these defendants' amount of potential liability, Silberberg has been granted leave to participate in this appellate proceeding as a respondent. *See* Order of the Supreme Court dated March 19, 2021.

are the same. The district court agreed, finding that its statutory interpretation of NRS 42.021 rendered the issue moot (JA 1492-1508). On November 24, 2020, appellants filed their notice of appeal and moved under NRCP 54(b) to certify the October 26, 2020 order as final JA 1530-1538; JA 1546-1570). The district court granted the motion and certified the order as final on February 6, 2021.

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court erred in concluding that NRS 42.021 does not apply to settlements of medical malpractice cases. The statute, enacted by the initiative process, was based on the identically-worded California statute which the appellate courts of that state – before the enactment of NRS 42.021 – had concluded applied to settlements of medical malpractice cases, and the ballot summaries did not exempt medical malpractice settlements from the measure's application. Accordingly, the district court should have undertaken a conflict of laws analysis which would have concluded that the law of Nevada, *i.e.*, NRS 42.021, should be applied in the case at bar, thereby precluding respondents' lien rights.

# **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's order granting a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss is reviewed *de novo*. *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of North Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). Dismissing a complaint is appropriate "only if it

appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Id.* at 228, 181 P.3d at 672. A district court's order granting or denying a motion for partial summary judgment is also reviewed *de novo* to determine whether there is no issue of material fact and, if so, whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Woods v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). In the case at bar, the material facts regarding the legal issues presented are not in controversy. Thus, if the Supreme Court agrees with the district court's conclusions of law, the district court properly granted the motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5) and denied appellants' motion for partial summary judgment.

#### II. NRS 42.021 APPLIES TO SETTLEMENTS

In cases other than medical malpractice, the workers' compensation carrier has a lien in an action by an employee against a third party. NRS 616C.216. Under NRS 42.021, however, a workers' compensation insurance carrier does not have a lien on the judgment rendered in a medical malpractice action by an employee against third parties if the amount payable as a benefit to the plaintiff as a result of the injury was introduced into evidence at trial. Because the underlying medical malpractice action settled, the issue is whether NRS 42.021 applies. No Nevada appellate court has decided the issue. But the Nevada statute is identical to California Civil Code 3333.1. And before NRS 42.021 was enacted, the California

Supreme Court and California Court of Appeal had both interpreted California Civil Code 3333.1 as precluding lien recovery of, or future credit for workers' compensation benefits, if the medical malpractice claim settled.<sup>3</sup>

# A. Had The Medical Malpractice Claim Been Tried, NRS 42.021 Would Preclude Respondent Copperpoint From Asserting a Lien or Credit

NRS 42.021, provides: "1. In an action for injury or death against a provider of health care based upon professional negligence, if the defendant so elects, the defendant may introduce evidence of any amount payable as a benefit to the plaintiff as a result of the injury or death pursuant to the United States Social Security Act,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Arizona's statute that permits a lien on statutory workers' compensation benefits in medical malpractice cases *i.e*, ARS 12-565C, differs from NRS 42.021 and California Civil Code 3333.1. ARS 12-565C, provides that "Unless otherwise expressly permitted to do so by statute, no provider of collateral benefits, as described in subsection A, shall recover any amount against the plaintiff as reimbursement for such benefits nor shall such provider be subrogated to the rights of the plaintiff." Because Arizona's workers' compensation statute (ARS 23-1023) expressly permits a lien, respondent Copperpoint would have a lien on appellant Daria Harper's settlement proceeds if Arizona law applies.

any state or federal income disability or worker's compensation act, any health, sickness or income-disability insurance, accident insurance that provides health benefits or income-disability coverage, and any contract or agreement of any group, organization, partnership or corporation to provide, pay for or reimburse the cost of medical, hospital, dental or other health care services. If the defendant elects to introduce such evidence, the plaintiff may introduce evidence of any amount that the plaintiff has paid or contributed to secure the plaintiff's right to any insurance benefits concerning which the defendant has introduced evidence. 2. A source of collateral benefits introduced pursuant to subsection 1 may not: (a) Recover any amount against the plaintiff; or (b) Be subrogated to the rights of the plaintiff against a defendant."

"[S]ection 2 protects plaintiffs by prohibiting collateral sources from recovering against prevailing plaintiffs." *Woods, supra,* 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Accordingly, had appellant Daria Harper proceeded to trial in her underlying medical malpractice action, respondent Copperpoint would have been barred from recovering any amount from said appellant whether by lien, subrogation, reimbursement or otherwise if evidence of the amount respondent paid to or on her behalf had been introduced into evidence at trial.

It is noteworthy that NRS 42.021 does not require that a case proceed to verdict or judgment; rather, the statute requires only that the collateral source

evidence be "introduced" to have the effect of barring a collateral source lien. If NRS 42.021 were held not to apply to medical malpractice settlements, parties who wanted to settle a medical malpractice case and have the benefit of barring a workers' compensation lien, would have to enter into the charade of a two-phase settlement agreement that required them in phase one to begin a trial where evidence of the collateral source payments was introduced into evidence, then immediately inform the district court of the settlement thereby ending the trial. That would be an absurdity. As the Nevada Supreme Court said in Sheriff, Clark County v. Burcham, 124 Nev. 1247, 1253, 198 P.3d 326, 329 (2008), "statutory construction should always avoid an absurd result." The Supreme Court of Arizona had a similar, albeit more colorful analysis: "If proper construction of the statute requires such absurdities, then we would have to agree with Mr. Bumble, in 'Oliver Twist', when he said: 'If the law says that; the law is an ass.' If a literal (interpretation) of the language leads to a result which produces an absurdity, it is our duty to construe the act, if possible, so that it is a reasonable and workable law." City of Phoenix v. Superior Court In and For Maricopa County, 101 Ariz. 265, 267, 419 P.2d 49, 51 (1966).

///

///

///

B. The Voter Initiative by Which NRS 42.021 was Enacted Explained that No Source of Collateral Benefits, Including Workers' Compensation, Would Have a Lien on a Plaintiff's Financial Recovery in a Medical Malpractice Case

NRS 42.021 became law in 2004. It was enacted after being presented to Nevada voters by ballot initiative.<sup>4</sup> In ascertaining how to interpret a law passed by a voter initiative, the "primary objective is to discern the intent of [the voters] who enacted the provisions at issue, and to fashion an interpretation consistent with that objective." *Guinn v. Nevada State Legislature*, 119 Nev. 460, 471, 76 P.3d 22, 29 (2003). "To determine the voter intent of a law that was enacted by a ballot initiative, the court will look to the ballot initiative's explanation and argument sections. *Piroozi v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Co.*, 131 Nev. 1004, 1008, 1011, 363 P.3d 1168, 1171, 1173 (2015). "Examining the ballot materials to determine voter intent is appropriate because "[t]hose materials are the only information to which all voters unquestionably had equal access. Patrick C. McDonnell, *Nevada's Medical* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Secretary of State, Statewide Ballot Questions 16 (2004), https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/VoteNV/BallotQuestions/2004.pdf; *McCrosky v. Carson Tahoe Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 133 Nev. 930, 936, 408 P.3d 149, 155 (2017).

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