IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DARIA HARPER, an individual; and DANIEL WININGER, an individual,

Appellants,

VS.

COPPERPOINT MUTUAL INSURANCE
HOLDING COMPANY, an Arizona
corporation; COPPERPOINT GENERAL
INSURANCE COMPANY, an Arizona
corporation; LAW OFFICES OF
MARSHALL SILBERBERG, P.C., a
California Corporation; KENNETH
MARSHALL SILBERBERG aka
MARSHALL SILBERBERG aka
MARSHALL SILBERBERG, an individual,

Electronically Filed
Aug 04 2021 07:33 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 82158

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Dated this 4th day of August 2021.

Respondents.

Respectfully Submitted, By:

/s/ Sami Randolph

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

IX. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

NRS 42.021 does not apply to the instant matter because the statute's plain language establishes that NRS 42.021 only applies to trials, not settlements as occurred here. Moreover, no conflict of laws exists because NRS 42.021 and NRS 616C.215 as well as ARS 23-1023 protect Respondents' lien. Assuming, *arguendo*, that a conflict of laws exists, Arizona law should apply because Arizona has the most significant relationship to the litigation and NRS 42.021 would effect Appellant Harper's substantive rights under her workers' compensation claim. Further, the instant appeal is jurisdictionally defective because Appellants have not adhered to administrative adjudication process as required of workers' compensation matters.

X. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the district court's order granting a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss *de novo*. *Munda v. Summerlin Life & Health Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 918, 923,

267 P.3d 771, 774 (2011). In reviewing the district court's order, this Court accepts Appellants' factual allegations as true, and the order will be upheld if "it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts . . . [that] would entitle him [or her] to relief." *Id*.

B. NRS 42.021 Does Not Apply to this Matter Because NRS 42.021's Plain Language Establishes that the Statute Only Applies to Trials, Not Settlements.

In this matter, the relevant statute is NRS 42.021. That statute provides in pertinent part that:

NRS 42.021 Actions based on professional negligence of providers of health care: Introduction of certain evidence relating to collateral benefits; restrictions on source of collateral benefits; payment of future damages by periodic payments.

- 1. In an action for injury or death against a provider of health care based upon professional negligence, if the defendant so elects, the defendant may introduce evidence of any amount payable as a benefit to the plaintiff as a result of the injury or death pursuant to the United States Social Security Act, any state or federal income disability or worker's compensation act, any health, sickness or income-disability insurance, accident insurance that provides health benefits or income-disability coverage, and any contract or agreement of any group, organization, partnership or corporation to provide, pay for or reimburse the cost of medical, hospital, dental or other health care services. If the defendant elects to introduce such evidence, the plaintiff may introduce evidence of any amount that the plaintiff has paid or contributed to secure the plaintiff's right to any insurance benefits concerning which the defendant has introduced evidence.
- 2. A source of collateral benefits **introduced pursuant to subsection** 1 may not:
 - (a) Recover any amount against the plaintiff; or

(b) Be subrogated to the rights of the plaintiff against a defendant.

NRS 42.021(1)–(2) (2021) (emphasis added). Further, In *Bank of Am., N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, Ltd. Liab. Co.*, the Nevada Supreme Court stated that where "a statute is unambiguous, this court does not look beyond its plain language in interpreting it." *Bank of Am., N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, Ltd. Liab. Co.*, 134 Nev. 604, 609, 427 P.3d 113, 119 (2018). Appellants first ask the Court to considered whether NRS 42.021 applies to the medical malpractice claim incurred during treatment under the workers' compensation claim, which did not proceed to trial but rather settled. Appellants' argument is without merit because NRS 42.021's plain language establishes that the statute only applies to trials, not settlements.

First, NRS 42.021(1) states that "if the defendant so elects, **the defendant** may introduce evidence" of collateral payments. NRS 42.021(1) (2021) (emphasis added). Further, upon the defendant's election to introduce such payments into evidence, the plaintiff may introduce evidence of any payments he or she made to secure such coverage. *Id.* Thus, as threshold, NRS 42.021(1)'s plain language establishes that such collateral payments may only be introduced if the defendant first choses to do so, at trial. Appellant's medical malpractice claim did not proceed to trial, but rather settled out of court. Thus, the defendants in that action did not

introduce evidence of Respondents' workers' compensation payments because the case did not proceed to trial.

Second, NRS 42.021(2) provides that only a collateral source introduced "pursuant to subsection 1" may not recover any amount against plaintiffs. NRS 42.021(2) (2021) (emphasis added). Here, Respondents' workers' compensation payments were not introduced into evidence as described above because the medical malpractice claim terminated in a settlement. Thus, NRS 42.021's plain language indicates that the statute is not applicable to the instant appeal because the underlying medical malpractice claim settled before trial, thus precluding any application of NRS 42.021.

1. Appellants' Reliance Upon California Law Should Be Disregarded as NRS 616A.010 *Specifically* Forbids Courts from Liberally Construing Workers' Compensation Statutes in Favor of the Injured Worker.

Appellants' argument that NRS 42.021 applies to settlements and is applicable to workers' compensation liens is based on the legally erroneous premise that Nevada courts should liberally construe workers' compensation statutes in favor of the injured worker. Opening Brief at pp. 14–20. Appellants argue that this Court should adopt the California Supreme Court's holdings in *Barme v. Wood*, 37 Cal. 3d 174, 689 P.2d 446 (1984) and *Graham v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, 210 Cal. App. 3d 499, 258 Cal. Rptr. 376 (1989) because they erroneously believe that Nevada law mandates a liberal construction of workers' compensation statutes.

In reality, the Nevada Legislature forbid the approach Appellants argue this Court adopt. NRS 616A.010 *specifically* forbids courts from liberally construing workers' compensation statutes in favor of the injured worker. Importantly, in *Law Offices of Barry Levinson*, *P.C. v. Milko*, the Nevada Supreme Court stated that "under this (the neutrality) rule, we have rejected tests derived from jurisdictions in which liberal construction is the law." *Law Offices of Barry Levinson*, *P.C. v. Milko*, 124 Nev. 355, 363, 184 P.3d 378, 384 (2008).

Accordingly, pursuant to *Milko*, this Court should reject the California Supreme Court's tests in *Barme v. Wood*, 37 Cal. 3d 174, 689 P.2d 446 (1984) and *Graham v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, 210 Cal. App. 3d 499, 258 Cal. Rptr. 376 (1989) because Cal. Lab. Code §3202 requires that California courts liberally construe workers' compensation statutes in favor of the injured worker. Indeed, under *Milko*, any test "derived from jurisdictions in which liberal construction is the law" should be disregarded because adjudication based on liberal construction cannot be reconciled with NRS 616A.010's clear mandate that courts undertake a balanced interpretation of workers' compensation statutes. *Id.* Thus, Appellants' reliance on California law is irrelevant to this Court's determination of whether Respondents' has a valid lien on the proceeds of Appellants' medical malpractice settlement.

C. No Conflict of Law Exists Because Both Arizona and Nevada Law Protect CopperPoint's Lien.

1. Arizona Law Protects Respondents' Lien.

ARS 23-1023 creates a statutory lien upon the proceeds of a workers' compensation claimant's third-party recovery. ARS 23-1023(D) states that:

ARS 23-1023. Liability of third persons to injured employee; election of remedies

D. If the employee proceeds against the other person, compensation and medical, surgical and hospital benefits shall be paid as provided in this chapter and the insurance carrier or other person liable to pay the claim shall have a lien on the amount actually collectable from the other person to the extent of such compensation and medical, surgical and hospital benefits paid. This lien shall not be subject to a collection fee. The amount actually collectable shall be the total recovery less the reasonable and necessary expenses, including attorney fees, actually expended in securing the recovery. In any action arising out of an aggravation of a previously accepted industrial injury, the lien shall only apply to amounts expended for compensation and treatment of the aggravation. The insurance carrier or person shall contribute only the deficiency between the amount actually collected and the compensation and medical, surgical and hospital benefits provided or estimated by this chapter for the case. Compromise of any claim by the employee or the employee's dependents at an amount less than the compensation and medical, surgical and hospital benefits provided for shall be made only with written approval of the insurance carrier or self-insured employer liable to pay the claim.

ARS 23-1023 (2020). Further, in *State Compensation Fund v. Nelson*, the Arizona Supreme Court explained that:

According to this statute, the Fund "shall have a lien on the amount actually collectable." The statute describes the "amount actually collectable" as the "total recovery less the reasonable and necessary expenses." The issue, therefore, "resolves into a determination of what

sums constitute the 'amount actually collectable' or the 'amount actually collected.'" We believe that the "total recovery" refers only to the total sum of money awarded by judgment. It should be noted that the phrase "amount actually collectable" refers to the sum of money the compensation carrier's lien rights can reach, not when the funds can be reached.

State Comp. Fund v. Nelson, 153 Ariz. 450, 453, 737 P.2d 1088, 1091 (1987).

Under ARS 23-1022, Respondents have a valid lien on Appellants' medical malpractice settlement. As the Arizona Supreme Court explained in *State Comp*. *Fund v. Nelson*, the carrier's lien rights extend to "the amount actually collectible" as subtracting "reasonable and necessary" expenses from the "total recovery" received via judgement. Respondents' interest is protected.

2. Nevada Law Protects Respondents' Lien.

As to Nevada law, NRS 616C.215 grants workers' compensation carriers "a lien upon the total proceeds of any recovery from some person other than the employer, whether the proceeds of such recovery are by way of judgment, settlement, or otherwise." NRS 616C.215(5) (2021). NRS 616C.215 conclusively governs workers' compensation subrogation matters in any action. *Tri-County Equip. & Leasing, LLC v. Klinke*, 128 Nev. 352, 356, 286 P.3d 593, 595 (2012). Indeed, in *Klinke*, this Court determined that NRS 616C.215(10) "creates an exception to the collateral source rule" in workers' compensation matters. *Id.*

. . .

In *Klinke*, the Nevada Supreme Court stated that:

The collateral source doctrine does not change this result. As noted, this court has adopted a per se rule barring the admission of a collateral source of payment for an injury into evidence for any purpose. **Nevada** recognizes a limited exception to the collateral source rule for workers' compensation payments. In Cramer v. Peavy, this court expressly held that NRS 616C.215(10) creates an exception to the collateral source rule. Pursuant to NRS 616C.215(10), "[i]n any trial of an action by the injured employee . . . against a person other than the employer or a person in the same employ, the jury should receive proof of the amount of all payments made or to be made by the <u>insurer</u> or the Administrator [of the Division of Industrial Relations]." The court the jury to follow the court's damages should then instruct instructions without reducing any award by the amount of workers' compensation paid, thus leaving unaltered the general substantive law on calculating damages. The jury-instruction language specifically suggested by the statute reads:

Payment of workmen's compensation benefits by the insurer, or in the case of claims involving the Uninsured Employers' Claim Account or a subsequent injury account the Administrator, is based upon the fact that a compensable industrial accident occurred, and does not depend upon blame or fault. If the plaintiff does not obtain a judgment in his or her favor in this case, the plaintiff is not required to repay his or her employer, the insurer or the Administrator any amount paid to the plaintiff or paid on behalf of the plaintiff by the plaintiff's employer, the insurer or the Administrator.

If you decide that the plaintiff is entitled to judgment against the defendant, you shall find damages for the plaintiff in accordance with the court's instructions on damages and return your verdict in the plaintiff's favor in the amount so found without deducting the amount of any compensation benefits paid to or for the plaintiff. The law provides a means by which any compensation benefits will be repaid from your award.

We have previously recognized that this statute benefits both the plaintiff and the defendant by preventing jury speculation as to workers' compensation benefits received.

616C.215(10)'s application to "any trial" gives the statute universal applicability to trials involving a plaintiff receiving workers' compensation payments, at least when the plaintiff is required to first use any recovery to reimburse the insurer for amounts paid.

Id. at 355–56, 286 P.3d at 595–96 (quotations omitted and emphasis added).

Should this Court apply Nevada law, NRS 616C.215 as interpreted by *Klinke* preserves Respondent's lien rights. In *Klinke*, the Nevada Supreme Court stated that NRS 616C.215 creates an exception to the collateral source rule in any workers' compensation matter. *Id.* NRS 616C.215 contains a jury instruction wherein jurors are directed to award damages as warranted without regard for collateral workers' compensation payments. As the jury instruction notes, "the law provides a means by which any compensation benefits will be repaid from your award." NRS 616C.215(5) (2021). Additionally, *Klink* was decided after NRS 42.021's 2004 passage by voters. Thusly, this Court should affirm the district court's order granting Respondent's motion to dismiss.

Importantly, in *Klinke*, this Court considered whether workers' compensation payments rendered under a sister state's workers' compensation scheme are admissible in a Nevada trial for personal injury. *Klinke*, *supra*, 128 Nev. 352, 353, 286 P.3d 593, 594 (2012). The issue resolved by the Nevada Supreme Court in

Klinke was "whether proof of California workers' compensation payments can be admitted into evidence in a personal injury action in Nevada." *Id*.

As Justice Gibbons explained in his concurrence, this issue necessitated resolution of "whether Nevada's collateral source rule applies to the payment of California workers' compensation benefits to Klinke and whether it applies to medical provider discounts." *Id.* at 358, 286 P.3d at 597–98. As a result, the Court's holding regarding NRS 616C.215(10)'s primacy in any third-party action stemming from an industrial injury is not dicta but rather authority resolving the question as to whether the general collateral source rule or NRS 616C.215(10) should apply in workers' compensation matters.

As a direct resolution of the question as to whether the general collateral source rule takes precedence over NRS 616C.215(10), *Klinke* is applicable to this case. The collateral source rule prohibits "the admission of a collateral source of payment for an injury into evidence for any purpose." *Proctor v. Castelletti*, 112 Nev. 88, 90, 911 P.2d 853, 854 (1996). NRS 42.021 is a permutation of the collateral source rule granting the defendant in a medical malpractice action the right, but not the obligation, to introduce certain collateral payments into evidence.

As explained in *Klinke*, under the general collateral source rule, evidence of workers' compensation payments would be barred but for NRS 616C.215(10)'s "universal applicability to any trial involving a plaintiff receive workers'

compensation payments...." *Klinke*, *supra*, 128 Nev. 352, 355–56, 286 P.3d at 595–96 (2012). As a result, no conflict of law exists as both Arizona and Nevada law protect Respondents' lien.

3. Established Rules of Statutory Interpretation Indicate that NRS 42.021 Does Not Limit or Preclude NRS 616C.215 or Respondent's lien.

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